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1. Name of Property

historic name ___Thome, James, Farm

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number __ 213 _Linnwood Road N/A [ not for publication
city or town ___Eighty Four (North Strabane Township) N/A O vicinity

state _Pennsylvania code FA county Washington code 125 zip code 15330

3. State/Federal Agency Certitfication

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby centify that this (d nomination
[ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Pant 60. In my opinion, the property
L% meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

nationally O statewide %% locally. ([:] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

/)’ma Mrent Glass, Exec, Dir. 2/18/97
Signature of dertitying official/Title Date

PA Historical and Museum Commission
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property {3 meets (0 does not meet the National Register criteria. ({3 Ses continuation sheet for additional
comments.) i

Signature of commenting official/Title . Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification
| hereby cenrtify that the propenrty is:
{J entered in the National Register.
See continuation sheet.

0 determined eligible for the
National Register
See continuation sheet.
[ determined not eligible for the
National Register.
[ removed from the National
Register.

O other, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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Wwashindgln County, PA
County and X

5 Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check onfy one box)
XX private O building(s)
(J public-local x i district
O public-State O site
O public-Federal O] structure
] object

Name of related muitiple property listing
(Enter “NJ/A™ if property is not part of a muitiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
3 2 buildings
0 0 sites
6 3 structures
0 0 objects
S 5 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic/single dwelling

Domestic/secondary structure

Agriculture/subsistence/

agricultural outbuilding

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic/single dwelling
Domestic/secondary structure

Agriculture/subsistence/

agricultural outbuilding

Landscape/pond Landscape/pond
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

Greek Revival

Georgian

Narrative Description

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation __stone

walls stone

wood
roof metal
other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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8. Statément of SMificance

Applicable National Register Criteria Areas of Significance
(Mark “x’' in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property (Enter categories from instructions)
for Nationai Register listing.) .
Agriculture
%X A Property is. associated with events that have made Architecture
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

(0 B Property is associated with the lives of persons

significant in our past.

x%] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction or

represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and . L
distinguishable entity whose components lack Period of Significance
individual distinction. 1800-1947

(J D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations Significant Dates
(Mark “'x"" in all the boxes that apply.)
circa 1800

Property is: circa 1810

(0 A owned by a religious institution or used for circa 1870
religious purposes.
Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/a

(0 B removed from its original focation.

0 € a birthplace or grave.

Cultural Affiliation
0 D a cemetery. N/A

{J E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

J F a commemorative property.

O G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance Architect/Builder
within the past 50 years. ’ unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data:

O preliminary determination of individual listing'(36 XX State Historic Preservation Office
CFR 67) has been requested ] Other State agency

O previously listed in the National Register [ Federal agency

[ previously determined eligible by the National (J Locai government
Register ‘ O] University

(] designated a National Historic Landmark 1 Other

3 recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey Name of repository:
#

O recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 190 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)
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(0 see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description '
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitte __Clinton E. Piper, Preservationist

November 1996

organization date
street & number 211 Second Street telephone __412.258.6037
city or town Monongahela City state _PA zip code 15063

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or NUMErous resources.
Photographs

Representative black and white_ photographs of the property.

Additional items
{Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name Samuel and Beverly Minor

street & number ___1513 Route 136 telephone __412.228.3339

city or town _Washington state _ P2 zip code _15301

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
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a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 ot seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget. Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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The 190 acre James Thome Farm is located in a rural farming area of North Strabane
Township, Washington County, Pennsylvania. The farm, at 213 Linnwood Road, is a mile
northwest of Linnwood Road’s intersection with SR 136. It retains a small grouping of buildings,
surrounded by low hills, rolling fields, and several other farms. Among the buildings is the Thome
House, which was built in three distinct phases: a circa 1810 Georgian central stone portion; a
circa 1870 Greek Revival style frame portion; and a circa 1950 vernacular frame portion.(Photos
#1-#3) This modestly designed and scaled house has a high degree of integrity. In addition to the
house, the farm consists of two contributing outbuildings: a bank barn with a log substructure and
a smoke house. The farm also includes six contributing structures: a silo, corn crib, tractor shed,
chicken coop, and two ponds. A non-contributing dairy barn, three non-contributing silos, and a
non-contributing privy complete the property. These farm buildings and surrounding lands retain
a high degree of integrity. Together these elements are representative of architectural evolution
typical of long-used Washington County farms.

The farm consists of a core of cultivated fields and cow pastures surrounded by scattered
woodlands of mature trees located to the northwest, northeast, south, and southeast. Locust posts
connected by barbed wire define the cow pastures. The land slopes down gently to create a
watershed for a stream which originates northwest of the property and runs through the center of
the property and continues beyond the property lines to the southeast. A spring, located near
Linnwood Road, which runs from north to south on the eastern end of the property, supplies one
of the man-made ponds with water. The other man-made pond is to the southeast. Both ponds
were built to supplement the farm’s water supply. A narrow lane extends west of Linnwood Road
to the farm complex and continues down toward the stream. Originally, the road continued to
another farm, now abandoned, on the top of the adjoining hill. While still identifiable, the road
bed is overgrow with brush. The Thome house stands among large maple trees toward the center
of the tract. The main buildings of the historic complex, including a bank barn, metal silo, corn
crib, chicken coop, tractor shed, smokehouse, and privy surround the house. A narrow dirt lane
extends to the south past the pond to the non-contributing dairy complex. It is comprised of a
large dairy barn with three large concrete silos.

The Thome House is a vernacular example of evolutionary architecture built in several
phases. The Georgian-inspired, modest, two-bay, 2" story, stone house was built in circa 1810.
Georgian elements of the house include the small window openings with little decorative
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embellishment, the use of larger stones at the corners of the building to resemble quoins, and a
simple rectangular transom above the door. To the east is a 1% story five-bay Greek Revival style
frame section built circa 1870. This portion of the house is distinguished from the Georgian
portion of the building by its large windows, wide eaves and eave returns, and a door with both
sidelights and transom. To the west is a 1950s two-story vernacular frame wing of little
distinction. Sections of the west wing date to the 1870s, however, the majority of it appears to
date to circa 1950.

The 2% story stone house has two asymmetrically placed bays on both the first and second
floors of the south elevation (the original facade) and the north/rear elevation.(Photo #3) The west
attic gable end has an opening for a small square window, but it was covered when the west wing
was added to the house. The opening is now only visible from the interior. Located on the east
side of the roof is an interior end chimney of stone, which has been reduced in height. A new roof
of standing seam metal was installed on the entire house in the spring of 1995. When the roof was
replaced, new gutters and downspouts were also installed. The roof has a slight overhang with a
wide frieze below and eave returns on the east elevation. The coursed fieldstone used to build the
house is strengthened at the corners with larger stones. Portions of the stone on the south
elevation and the north/rear elevation have been repointed with new mortar. This portion of the
house has a stone foundation, however, it does not have a basement.

The transomed front entrance of the stone portion of the Thome house has an original
paneled head and reveals.(Photo #5) The current door has two large rectangular panels of glass
above two square molded panels of wood. All windows on the stone portion of the house are
wood six-over-one double-hung sash. The first floor windows are taller than the second floor
windows. These windows appear to date to the early twentieth century and retain their original
wood frame openings. Currently the stone section of the house does not have a porch, however,
the 1876 Atlas of Washington County shows a one-story shed roof porch across the south
elevation.

In the 1870s the facade of the house was re-oriented to the east with the addition of a 12
story frame wing.(Photos #2 and #4) The wing has five-bays across the (current) facade and is
one room deep. The roof is gabled and originally had two interior square brick chimneys. The
chimney on the north side of the roof has been removed. The roof has a slight overhang with eave
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returns. The foundation of this portion of the house is stone, with a bulkhead door on the south
elevation opening to the potato cellar. The front door, original to the wing, has two long molded
rectangular panels above two square molded panels. In the top center of the door is the original
door knocker. The original metal door knob is “S” shaped. Surrounding the door are sidelights
and a transom, features typical of the Greek Revival style in the county. Between the top of the
door and the bottom of the transom is a narrow band of wood dentils. Each of the sidelights has
three glazed panels above one rectangular molded wood panel. A one-story, one-bay wood porch
with a gable roof surrounds the door. The porch has two square wood columns and simple wood
railings. This porch replaces an earlier flat-roofed wood porch that, according to the 1876 atlas,
extended across the length of the facade. On the west side of the wing is a small shed roofed
stoop over a back door. The windows in the east wing are original six-over-six double-hung sash.
The window in the gable end is an original wood tripartite sash. The exterior of this portion of the
house is currently clad in modem siding.

The west wing of the Thome House is 2% stories with a two-bay facade.(Photo #2)
According to the 1876 atlas, the house had a wing to the west, but it was a single story with a
porch across the facade. In the 1950s the Thome family transformed the small addition to a full
two stories. Subsequently, one story, shed roofed additions were added to both the facade and
rear elevations. Also during the 1950s another one-story gable roofed addition with narrow eaves
was built to the west with three-bays. This addition houses the coal furnace and laundry room.
The only chimney is located on the east side of the furnace/laundry wing; it is a standing exterior
end chimney built of brick. On the south elevation of the furnace/laundry wing are steps down to a
basement door. All the windows in the west wing are modern with some fixed wood sash and
some aluminum double-hung sash. All the doors are modern as well. The foundations of the
1950s additions are constructed of concrete.

The overall floor plan of the Thome House is I-shaped, with the original stone house in the
center and the subsequent additions forming the wings. The door on the east elevation of the
house serves as the primary entrance. The door on the south elevation of the stone portion is used
as a secondary entrance. The door on the south elevation of the 1950s wing serves as the main
entrance to that portion of the house, which is currently rented to a member of the Minor family.
The first floor contains a series of seven interconnecting rooms. Each section of the house has a
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stair to the second floor, since none of the second floor rooms interconnect. The second floor
contains five rooms.

The first floor of the stone portion of the Thome House originally had two parlors, each
with a corner fireplace. The wall separating the two first floor rooms was removed in the 1940s.
Subsequently, the fireplace to the south was closed off. On the west side of the original south
room is an enclosed corner stair. The closed single flight winder stair is original to the house and
accessed by a door on the west wall. A door on the north side of the enclosed stair opens to a
closet beneath the stair. The wood paneling currently covering the wall around the stair was
installed in circa 1940. The remaining fireplace has an original simple molded wood
mantel.(Photo #6) Original chair rail extends around the entire room. On the east wall of the room
are two circa 1870s molded four panel doors leading to the 1870s east wing. These doors both
have paneled heads, reveals, and original wood trim. Since these doorways are cut through the
exterior stone wall of the house, they are very deep. On the opposite side of the room is one
1870s door to the west wing identical to the other two. The original wood floor is intact
underneath the circa 1940s wood floor. The walls and ceiling of the parlor are plaster.

The closed winder stair leads to a north bedroom and a south bedroom on the second floor
of the stone portion.(Photo #7) All the detailing on the second floor, including the plaster,
baseboards, chair rail, window frames, sills, door knobs, hardware, and six-paneled doors, is
original to the house. In most cases the wood detailing has never been painted. An early wood
wall separates the space into two rooms.(Photo #10) The breast of the chimney is visible in both
rooms, however there apparently were not fireplaces in either of these rooms. The north bedroom
had portions of its wood ceiling removed exposing the original wood beams. On the west side of
the south bedroom is an original six-paneled door opening to the original closed winder stair to the
attic.

The attic of the stone portion of the house is full size with a wood floor and stone end
walls. The rafters are numbered and pegged together. An opening for a window is located in the
west gable end. The window has been removed to access the 1950's addition crawl space.(Photo
#11)



NPS Form 10-900-a : OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Thome, James, Farm
Washington County, Pennsylvania

Section Number 7 Page 5

The 1870s frame section of the house has a center hall flanked by a parlor to the south and
a kitchen to the north. The open-string stair in the center hall rises an initial flight of eleven steps
to a landing continuing in a second shorter flight of four steps to the second floor.(Photo #12) The
stair has a wall stringer, rounded handrail, round balusters, and a turned wood newel post with a
square base. The parlor to the south of the center hall has an original fireplace which has been
closed off. The wood mantel has square carved wood columns on either side of the
opening.(Photo #15) The windows and doors all have original Greek key design moldings. The
original wood baseboards are very deep. A door on the west side of the parlor opens into the
stone portion of the house.(Photo #16) The kitchen is to the north of the center hall. It has
original baseboards and trim, however the Greek key motif was not used.(Photo #14) On the west
side of the kitchen is an original 1870s door to the stone portion of the house. Near this door is
another door opening to the space under the main stair, now used as a laundry room. In the
northwest corner of the kitchen is a twentieth-century door to the rear stoop. All other doors on
the first floor are original molded four-paneled doors with original hardware.

The second floor of the 1870s wing has one large bedroom at the top of the stairs.(Photo
17) The room has an original wood floor, wood door trim, and baseboards. Flanking the door into
the room are two large walk-in closets with built-in pegs and hooks for storage.(Photo #18) All the
doors are made of wood planks have original hardware. The 1870s wing does not have an attic.
The small potato cellar or basement is only accessible from an outside entrance on the south
elevation. The potato cellar extends only under the east parlor and central hall of the wing.

The first floor of the 1950s wing of the house has a living room, dining room, kitchen, and
bathroom. On the west wall of the living room is a simple wood single flight stair with a round
handrail and balusters. The east wall of the living room is the former exterior stone of the original
stone house. The wood detailing in the dining room appears to be original, and may be part of one
of the earlier one-story wings.(Photo #19) East of the dining room is a door to a small hallway,
north of which is the full bathroom. The hall connects the west wing to the original stone house.
To the rear of the wing, in a one-story extension, is the kitchen. The kitchen has a door on the
west wall that connects to the circa 1950s one-story furnace/laundry. The room on the first floor
is a laundry with an exterior door on the east wall. A closed stair on the north wall leads down to
the basement which houses a large furnace. A door on the south wall of the basement opens to
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the outside. The second floor of the 1950s wing has two bedrooms. All the detailing in the wing
1s very simple and plain.

Including the Thome House, the farm has three contributing buildings, six contributing
structures, two non-contributing buildings, and three non-contributing structures. The contributing
30" x 60' gable-roofed frame circa 1800 bank barn has a standing seam metal roof. (Photos #22
and #23) At the lowest level, the barn has a two-crib log construction that was subsequently
enlarged and expanded.(Photos #24 and #25) The bamn has a banked entrance on the north
elevation. A frame addition was made to the east and a one-story concrete block addition was
made to the south. The 11'x 9' contributing smoke house of patterned concrete dates from circa
1930. It has a gabled roof of asphalt shingles.(Photo #29) Near the bank barn is a contributing 50'
tall metal silo built in circa 1920. Also near the bank barn is a circa 1880 contributing 25' x 20'
two-story frame drive-through corn crib with a gabled roof of corrugated metal.(Photo #26) 1t has
a corner winder stair inside. Two large storage bins flank the drive-through.(Photo #27) A
contributing 20' x 20' frame tractor shed with a flat roof of corrugated metal is to the northeast of
the corn crib. Near the tractor shed is a 40' x 60' contributing chicken coop. Both buildings date
to circa 1920. The coop has a gabled roof of asphalt shingles. On the north elevation is a large
gabled dormer with double doors to access the loft for storage. Both the east and west ends of the
coop have large doors. The south elevation has a long band of windows. To the south of the
Thome House is a man made circa 1945 pond roughly measuring 25' x 30'. It is fed by a spring to
the northwest.(Photo #21) A second man made pond also from circa 1945, measuring roughly 30'
x 30, is to the southwest. Construction of both ponds was funded by government assistance
programs to supplement the water supply of the farm and improve agricultural practices in the
1940s. Construction of these ponds illustrates the continued agricultural evolution of the farm.

The other buildings in the complex include a non-contributing 7' x 7' frame privy has a
gabled roof of corrugated metal. According to a former owner of the farm, this privy was moved
to the site in the 1940s from another farm.(Photo # 29) Southwest of the Thome House is a circa
1950 non-contributing modern concrete block dairy barn comprising several one-story additions
with low pitched roofs of corrugated metal. It measures roughly 50' x 65'. Near the barn are
three large interconnected non-contributing 55' tall concrete silos.
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The landscape surrounding the Thome House and its outbuildings still retains a strong rural
agricultural flavor. The farm fields are either cultivated for crops or defined by locust post fence
as pasture for the dairy cattle. The rolling fields are outlined on the northeast, northwest, south
and southeast by large stands of mature woodlands. The other notable stand of trees, while much
smaller, are the large maple trees which distinguish the location of the Thome House and complex
of outbuildings. Aside from the telephone and electrical poles along Linnwood Road, few modern
intrusions of any kind are visible from the farm. The roadway into the property from Linnwood
Road has not been paved, neither have any of the other roads to the various farm outbuildings.

The lands of the Thome farm have excellent integrity.

The complex of outbuildings and farm fields of the Thome Farm still evoke a strong sense
of Washington County agricultural history. The farm, with its evolutionary farm house, intact
complex of common Washington County farm buildings, and expansive fields, is typical of long-
used farms. The house represents three distinct periods of building history with a circa 1810
vernacular Georgian stone section, an 1870s Greek Revival style frame wing, and a 1950s frame
wing. The circa 1810 stone portion and the 1870s east wing are both intact with good integrity.
The first floor of the stone portion has one of its original fireplaces and mantel. The second floor
of the stone section is virtually intact with many original details including chair rail, corner winder
stair, original wood floors, plaster, doors, and hardware. The 1870s wing retains its original floor
plan, windows, doors, simple stair, deep baseboards, and Greek key design trim. Changes made to
the house were done in the same simple style in which the house was built. The west wing, while
it contains historic portions of earlier wings, is of lesser integrity, but does not detract from the
overall appearance of the house. The farmland and buildings represent early subsistence farming,
sheep farming and a gradual switch to specialized dairy production. Overall, the Thome Farm,
evolved over time, is reflective of the major building and agricultural trends of the county.
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The James Thome Farm is significant under criterion “A” of the National Register for
associations with early nineteenth to early twentieth century agriculture in Washington County,
Pennsylvania. The evolutionary farm complex and associated lands convey agricultural use and
significance from the establishment of the farm and construction of a barn in circa 1800, followed
by a house in circa 1810, through 1947, the fifty year cutoff date allowed by the National
Register. The farm is also eligible under criterion “C” for architecture as an example of how
Washington County farms were designed, appeared, and changed in appearance through the
period of significance. Historically the lands of the Thome Farm were used for subsistence
farming, sheep and cattle grazing, raising crops to feed livestock as well as other agricultural uses.
Together the buildings and lands of the Thome Farm make up a tangible piece of the common
architectural and agricultural history of Washington County.

Family History

The North American origins of the Scots-Irish Thome Family can be traced to James
Thome, Sr., a native of Dauphin County, Pennsylvania. He was the father of six children
including James Thome, Jr., who was born and educated in Dauphin County. James Thome, Jr.
moved to western Pennsylvania during the Whiskey Insurrection and began amassing land in North
Strabane Township, Washington County in the late 1790s. According to early survey maps, the
roughly 250 acre Thome Farm was formed from portions of land originally patented to Moses
McWhirter in 1786 and to Nicholas Pees in 1790. By the beginning of the period of significance,
the property had been reduced to roughly 190 acres which Thome cleared for farming. Physical
evidence suggests that the log core of the present bank barn was built in or soon after 1800. The
construction of the stone core of the present house was built circa 1810. This building was very
simple and measured twenty four feet square. It is likely that a wing was erected to the west side
of the stone house soon after, perhaps for a kitchen. James Thome, Jr. married Abbie Hill and
together they had seven children, including James Thome III. Thome, Jr. and his wife were
members of the Seceder Church where Thome served as an elder. The Associated Reformed or
Seceder Church was a conservative branch of Presbyterianism brought to Washington County by a
small group of Scottish immigrants. James Thome, Jr. died in 1861, and at this time his North
Strabane Township farm passed to his son, James Thome III.

James Thome III was born in 1816 in North Strabane Township. He was educated locally,
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learning agricultural practices from his father. In 1843 James married Eliza McNary, a daughter
of James McNary of nearby Nottingham Township, Washington County. They had six children:
Samuel, Abbie, Annie, Reverend J. Lane, William, and Emma. James Thome III resided on the
farm his entire life. The Thomes were members of the United Presbyterian Church at Pigeon
Creek. Thome family’s need to accommodate several generations resulted in the construction of
the 1Yz story circa 1870 frame Greek Revival wing of the house.

James Thome III died in 1894 willing his eldest son, Samuel, his roughly 190 acre
property. In 1928 the unmarried Samuel Thome passed his 190 acres to his two nephews: Robert
and James, and his niece Mary. They in turn cared for the ailing Samuel until his death. Mary
and Robert were both teachers, while James was a minister like his father. None of the three lived
on the farm and leased it to tenants. In circa 1942, James Lane Thome and his family moved into
a portion of the Thome House and worked the land with brother Robert on weekends and during
the summer. In the 1940s the brothers started a dairy operation and erected the present dairy barn
by the 1950s. The land eventually passed to the children of James Lane Thome, Mary Ann and
James.

James was unmarried and resided on the farm until his death in 1988. Much of the
property in more recent years was leased to the Minors, owners of a nearby dairy farm. Upon her
brother’s death, Mary Ann Thome Johnson sold the 190 acre tract and two adjoining parcels out
of the family for the first time, to Sam and Beverly Minor. The Minor’s daughter, Marcia,
currently resides in the Thome House. The Minors work the 190 acre farm and two adjoining
parcels in conjunction with their other nearby tracts of land. They also operate a dairy and a
restaurant/gift shop on their adjoining farm. The Minors farm both vegetables and the necessary
crops for supporting dairy cattle.

Farming History
As was typical in Washington County, agricultural pursuits many local farmers focused
initially on subsistence farming between 1800 and 1860. During the pre-Civil War period to 1920,
farming in the county shifted to sheep raising. The shift to sheep farming was encouraged by both
improvements in transportation as well as the influence of mechanized woolen cloth production in
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1820s and 1830s. The sheep industry eventually became the primary revenue-producing activity
in the county. Washington County sheep were known across the country for their high quality.
Between 1920 and the late 1930s, the focus of farming was more toward regional markets. By the
1940s and 1950s, the focus turned to specialized dairy farming. The Thome Farm reflects all
these major agricultural trends of Washington County farm history.

As many other farms in the area, the Thome Farm was established as nearly self sufficient
with a wide variety of crops, livestock, and necessary processing facilities and storage buildings.
The land was cleared and the fields were enclosed with fence. The Thome family contributed to
the sheep farming trend by supplementing their subsistence farming gradually with sheep resulting
in large portions of the farmiands set aside for grazing areas for the sheep. Use of the federally-
sponsored agricultural farm surveys from 1850 to 1880 for North Strabane Township, provides
some insight into typical farming activities. In 1860, the leading crops were potatoes, barley, fruit,
hay, butter, oats, and wheat. James Thome III owned about 270 sheep, an average number for the
farms in township at this time. Thome was also slaughtering animals, most likely pigs and some
sheep. By the 1870s, Thome had 300 sheep and by the 1880s, the leading farm product on this
farm was wool with 400 sheep yielding over 1,000 pounds of wool annually making this farm one
of the largest sheep farms in North Strabane Township. In the 1880s, 100 acres of the farm were
not mown, an additional indication of the large flock of sheep. In addition to this, Thome also
maintained 40 acres of hay, 30 acres of mown fields, 5 acres in grass seed, and two acres for
orchards.

According to McFarland’s Twentieth Century History of Washington County, between the
years of 1880 and 1920, there was an overall decrease in the number of sheep in the county.
McFarland reported that the county had 600,000 sheep in 1880 and only 20,000 by 1910. The
decline in the wool resulted in competition from less expensive western wool, the repeal of an
1867 tariff on foreign wool imports, and a massive drought in 1894 which caused liquidation of
many flocks. Another set back was the increase in coal mining and extraction of oil and natural
gas from the surrounding farmlands. With the new interest in coal, o0il, and gas came an increase
land values. However, extraction of coal, oil, and gas was not completely negative, transportation
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improved and new markets became available for the remaining farmers. It also brought a number
of immigrants to the area with new food traditions based on consumption of lamb. Nevertheless
less, agricultural production and sheep raising in particular generally declined.

The Pennsylvania Agriculture Farm Surveys of both 1924 and 1927 indicate a continued
decrease in sheep holdings throughout the entire township and county. Some farmers still retained
flocks of sheep, however, the flocks were not nearly the size they were in the nineteenth century.
In the case of the Thome Farm, the survey reveals that by 1927, there were no longer any sheep
on the farm. The cash crops included wheat, oats, hay, as well as fruit from apple and peach trees.
It was during this period of diversification and expansion that the present metal silo was built next
to the bank barn, as was typical in other farms in the county. A simple tractor shed to house new
farming equipment was also erected, representative of the gradual switch to more mechanical farm
equipment. Thome maintained a number of milk cows, pigs and nearly sixty chickens. The
increase in chickens was possible because of the erection of a large new chicken coop behind the
house in the 1920s. A smokehouse was also built about the same time which likely replaced an
earlier smokehouse built in the early part of the nineteenth century. In the 1930s there was
renewed interest in sheep farming in the county, a hopeful response to the depression that was
overtaken by dairy farming. Following this county wide trend, the Thome Farm in the mid to late
1940s entered an era of post war dairy specialization with the construction of a large dairy barn
and three concrete and steel silos.

The Thome Farm is a strong example of the broad trends of farming history in the
township and surrounding Washington County. The farm developed over a period approximately
150 years with periods of early nineteenth century subsistence farming, mid to late nineteenth
century specialized sheep farming, early twentieth century cash crop farming, and subsequent
twentieth century dairy farming. During each of these periods, one or more buildings were erected
on the property to meet the needs of each specific type of farming and many of these buildings
remain to give the property an evolutionary appearance. Much of the land still being worked today
reflects agricultural use as a dairy farm. Consequently, the Thome Farm is a strong representative
example of an evolutionary farm of both the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.



